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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON
IN THE COURT OF COMMON,PLEAS,_| CASE NO. 2014 CP-10-4591
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Jane 202 Doe, et al City of North Charleston
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PLAINTIFE(S) JULIE . £RHSTRONE DEFENDANT(S) |
ULERK GF COURT Attorney for : [_] Plaintiff [[] Defendant
Submitted by: o or
© Y““"M-‘&r—::_‘ i Self-Represented Litigant

DISPOSITION TYPE (CHECK ONE)
JURY VERDICT. This action came before the court for a trial by jury. The issues
have been tried and a verdict rendered.

DECISION BY THE COURT. This action came to trial or hearing before the court.

The issues have been tried or heard and a decision rendered. [} See Page 2 for additional information.
ACTION DISMISSED (CHECK REASON): [ ] Rule 12(b), SCRCP; [[] Rule 41(a),

SCRCP (Vol. Nonsuit); [] Rule 43(k), SCRCP (Settled); [ ] Other

ACTION STRICKEN (CHECK REASON): [[] Rule 40(j), SCRCP; [] Bankruptcy;

[[] Binding arbitration, subject 1o right to restore to confirm, vacate or modify
arbitration award; [_] Other

| DISPOSITION OF APPEAL TO THE CIRCUIT COURT (CHECKAPPLICABLE‘BOX):
[ Affirmed; [T Reversed; [ Remanded; [ ] Other

NOTE: ATTORNEYS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING LOWER COURT, TRIBUNAL, OR
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE CIRCUIT COURT RULING IN THIS APPEAL.
IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: [ ] See attached order (formal order to follow) [X] Statement of Judgment

by the Court: Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to use Pseudonyrn, filed on 11/12/14, is GRANTED. :

ORDER INFORMATION
This order [ ] ends [X] does not end the case.

Additional Information for the Clerk :

00X O

. INFORMATION FOR THE JUDGMENT INDEX
Complete this section below when the judgment affects title to real or personal property or if any amount
should be enrolled. If there is no judgment information, indicate “N/A” in one of the boxes below. |
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(List name(s) below) (List name(s) below) (List amount(s) below)
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The judgment information above has been provided by the submitting party. Disputes concerning the amounts contained in this

form may be addressed by way of motion pursuant to the SC Rules of Civil Procedure. Amounts to be computed such as interest

or additional taxable costs not available at the time the form and final order are submitted 10 the judge may be provided to the
ote: Title abstracto-(a\d researchers should refer to the official court order for judgment details.
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¢ JURY VERDICT. This action came before the court for a trial by jury. The issues
have been tried and a verdict rendered. ‘
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The issues have been tried or heard and a decision rendered.
[0  ACTION DISMISSED (CHECK REASON): [] Rule 12(b), SCRCP; [] Rule 41(a),
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TRIBUNAL, OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE CIRCUIT COURT RULING
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IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: [ ] See attached order. (Formal order to follow)

X Statement of Judgment by the Court:

This case was called before the Court for a jury trial on October 2, 2017. On October 13, 2017, a
judgment in favor of the Defendants was rendered by the jury.

At the end of the trial, Plaintiff made a Motion for a New Trial. The Court heard and respectfully
denied this motion. The Defendants made a post-trial motion for sanctions pursuant to South
Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 11 and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10. Defendants further moved
for attorney's fees as the prevailing party in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988. The Court instructed
Defendants to file a Motion in support of its request for sanctions in accordance with § 15-36-
"10(D). The Court additionally instructed Defendants to file a separate motion with the Court in
support of their request for attorney's pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.
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ORDER INFORMATION
This order X} ends {_] does not end the case.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of
attorney for Jane Doe,

Plaintiffs,
VERDICT FORM
V.
o "3’/ e
. : < = P
City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne N~ ~
e - . Qs T ’
McGowan, individually, Charles Francis - \?6"’ R <
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M. ARG &
Doxey, individually; Q“"/ '%
: IR -
Defendants. %f}"é’ .~
G, P
A

ThIS is the verdict form for this matter. Please answer each questlon and then
follow the directions that coincide with your answer. The Foreperson must sign and date
the verdict form when it is complete.

AS TO PLAINTIFFS® CLAIMS AGAINST
DEFENDANT CITY OF NORTH CHARLESTON

1. Do you find that the Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance‘of the evidence that the City
of North Charleston violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rlghts by being deliberately
indifferent with regard to training its officers?

yes (go to #2) - , v’ no (stop deliberations on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this form)

2. If you answered yes to #1, do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the

evidence that any such constltutlonal violation by the City of North Chdrleston
proximately caused damage to Rhonda Doe‘7

yes (go to #3) no (stop deliberations on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this form)

|
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3. If the answers to #1 and #2 are yes, please state the amount of damages that should be
awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that the City of North Charleston was deliberately
indifferent with regard to training its officers.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

YOUR VERDICT MUST BE UNANIMOUS.

it /3, 2er7 24 /Mﬂ

Date Foreperson

2
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of
attorney for Jane Doe,

Plaintiffs,
v.

City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne
McGowan, individually, Charles Francis
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M.
Doxey, individually; : '

Defendants.

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

This is the verdict form for this matter. Please answer each question and then

follow the directions that coincide with your answer. The Foreperson must sign and date -

the verdict form when it is complete.

AS TO PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS AGAINST

DEFENDANT LEIGH ANNE MCGOWAN

1. Do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Leigh Anne
McGowan violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights by making a warrantless entry
into Rhonda Doe’s residence on the night of March 27, 2014?

1/ no (stop deliberating on this cause

yes (go to #2)
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)
2. If you answered yes to #1, do you find that Leigh Anne McGowan is entitled to Qualified
Immunity?

yes (stop deliberating on
this cause of action and sign the
bottom of this form)

i

no (go to #3)

“R. App 006




3. If you answered yes to #1 and no to #2, do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a
preponderance of the evidence that the consututlona] violation proximately caused
damages to Rhonda Doe‘7

yes (go to #4) no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)
4, If the answer to both # 1 and #3 is yes and the answer to #2 is no, please state the amount

of actual damages that should be awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Leigh Anne
McGowan violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

5. If you answered #4, do you find that Plaintiff has proven through clear and convincing -
evidence that punitive damages should be awarded against Leigh Anne McGowan.

yes (go to #6) no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)
6. If the answer to #5 is yes, please state the amount of punitive damages that should be

awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Leigh Anne McGowan violated Rhonda Doe’s
constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

YOUR VERDICT MUST BE UNANIMOUS.

[7072@(4 /3/%/7 ?é /dm/@\/

Date Foreperson

2

R. App 007



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of
attorney for Jane Doe,

Plaintiffs,
v.

City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne
McGowan, individually, Charles Francis
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M.
Doxey, individually;

Defendants.

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

VERDICT FORM

This is the verdict form for this matter. Please answer each question and then

follow the directions that coincide with your answer. The Foreperson must sign and date

the verdict form when it is complete.

AS TO PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS AGAINST

DEFENDANT CHARLES WOHLLEB

1. Do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Charles
Wohlleb violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights by making a warrantless entry into
Rhonda Doe’s residence on the night of March 27, 20147

yes (go to #2)

/ no (stop deliberating on this cause

~of action and sign the bottom of this
form) :

2. If you answered yes to #1, do you find that Charles Wohlleb is entitled to Qualified

Immunity?

yes (stop deliberating on
this cause of action and sign the
bottom of this form)

1

no (go to #3)
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If you answered yes to #1 and no to #2, do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a
preponderance of the evidence that the constitutional violation proximately caused
damages to Rhonda Doe?

yes (go to #4) no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)

If the answer to both # 1 and #3 is yes and the answer to #2 is no, please state the amount
of actual damages that should be awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Charles
Wohlleb violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

If you answered #4, do you find that Plaintiff has proven through clear and convincing
evidence that punitive damages should be awarded against Charles Wohlleb.

yes (go to #6) no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)

If the answer to #5 is yes, please state the amount of punitive damages that should be
awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Charles Wohlleb violated Rhonda Doe’s
constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

YOUR VERDICT MUST BE UNANIMOUS.

Deborer /3, 2007 Z/26 Lo

Foreperson

2

R. App 009



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of
attorney for Jane Doe, ‘

Plaintiffs,
V.
City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne
. McGowan, individually, Charles Francis
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M.
Doxey, individually;

Defendants.

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

VERDICT FORM

This is the vei‘dict form for this matter. Please answer each question and then

follow the directions that coincide with your answer. The Foreperson must sign and date

the verdict form when it is complete.

AS TO PLAINTIFES’ CLAIMS AGAINST

DEFENDANT ANTHONY DOXEY

1. Do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Anthony
Doxey violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights by making a warrantless entry into
Rhonda Doe’s residence on the night of March 27, 20147

Y

yes (go to #2) v no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form) :
2. If you answered yes to #1, do you find that Anthony, Doxey is entitled to Qualified
Immunity?
yes (stop deliberating on no (go to #3)

this cause of action and sign the
bottom of this form)

1
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3. If you answered yes to #1 and no to #2, do you find that Plaintiff has proven by a
preponderance of the evidence that the constitutional violation proximately caused
damages to Rhonda Doe? '

yes (go to #4) ~___no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)
4. If the answer to both # 1 and #3 is yes and the answer to #2 is no, please state the amount

of actual damages that should be awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Anthony
Doxey violated Rhonda Doe’s constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

5. If you answered #4, do you find that Plaintiff has proven through clear and convincing
evidence that punitive damages should be awarded against Anthony Doxey.

yes (g0 to #6) no (stop deliberating on this cause
of action and sign the bottom of this
form)
6. If the answer to #5 is yes, please state the amount of punitive damages that should be

awarded to Plaintiff for the allegation that Anthony Doxey violated Rhonda Doe’s
constitutional rights.

$

(please state damages award in numbers)

YOUR VERDICT MUST BE UNANIMOUS.

, /26
Obtotes /2, 2017 /KMJQQM

Date Foreperson

2
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of
attorney for Jane Doe,

Plaintiffs,
V.

City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne
McGowan, individually, Charles Francis
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M.
Doxey, individually,

Defendants.

Presiding Judge:
Counsel for Plaintiff:
Counsel for Defendants:

Date of Trial:
Court Reporter:

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES
AND COSTS PURSUANT TO

42 US.C.§1983 -
—
rec
e
= =
e
Ze

Hon. Deadra L. Jefferson =2
Gregg Meyers, Esq.

Sandra Senn, Esq.

Christopher Dorsel, Esq.

October 2, 2017 — October 13, 2017
Joyce Rueger

9€:€ Hd £-YdV 8102

fe E

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendants’ Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs pursuant

to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, filed with the Charleston County Clerk of Court on October 23, 2017 and received

by the Court on the same date. A trial by jury was held from October 2, 2017 until October 13, 2017 at

which time the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendants: City of North Charleston, Leigh Anne

McGowan, Charles Wholleb, and Anthony Doxey. Present at the trial were Gregg Meyers, Esquire on

behalf of the Plaintiff, Jane Doe 202, and Sandra Senn, Esquire and Christopher Dorsel, Esq. on behalf of

the four Defendants.

At the conclusion of trial and after the verdict, the Defendants moved the Court for Attorneys'

Fees and Costs as the prevailing party in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988. The Court instructed the

Defendants to file a motion in support of their request for attorneys' fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

Accordingly, the Defendants filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988

Page 1 of 9 l
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on October 23, 2017. Plaintiff filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Fees and
Costs on November 3, 2017. Having fully considered the pleédings, briefs, and affidavits submitted by
the parties as well as the evidence of record, the Court hereby denies Defendants' Motion for Attorneys'
Fees and Costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiff in this matter, Jane Doe, is a sixty-nine (69) year old female who has suffered from
dementia and early onset Alzheimer's disease since 2012. This case arises from a civil rights claim for
damages allegedly suffered by Plaintiff when the Defendants conducted a warrantless entry into her
residence in North Charleston, South Carolina. The entry occurred on March 27, 2014 and was conducted
by the City of North Charleston police officers: Leigh Anne McGowan, Charles Wholleb, and Anthony
M. Doxey. On the night of March 27, 2014, Plaintiff's neighbors, Jake and Sarah Sadler, called the North
Charleston Police Department to report a disturbance at Plaintiff's residence involving Plaintiff's daughter.
Mr. Sadler informed the Police Department that Plaintiff, Jane Doe, and her adult daughter and caretaker,
Daughter Doe, lived in the residence, and that Daughter Doe was pounding on the front door and
screaming. Mr. Sadler also reported that Daughter Doe's car door was open, that her shoes were on the
sidewalk, and that she "looked like a mess." Mr. Sadler further observed Daughter Doe urinating on the
front lawn. This account of events was corroborated by the trial testimony of Daughter Doe who admitted,

that she was indeed yelling and banging on the front door of the residence on the night of March 27, 2014

because she had locked herself out.

' This motion has been determined on the briefs and affidavits filed by the parties without oral argument with the consent of
counsel. "A hearing is not always required on a motion for an award of fecs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 as briefing alone may be
adequate.” Coop v. City of South Bend, 635 F.2d 652, 655 (7th Cir. 1980). Indeed, a full evidentiary hearing on a motion for
an award of attorney fees in a civil rights suit is unnecessary where the plaintiff requested neither hearing nor oral argument
on fee motion and the affidavits and record before the Court allowed it to consider all factors requisite to an award. See Am.
Con. Party v. Munro, 6540 F.2d. 184, 186. (9th Cir. 1981).

Page 2 of 9
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| The first officer to respond to the call from Plaintiff's neighbor was Defendant Leigh Anne
McGowan. Upon arrival at‘the residence, Officer McGowan completed a visual inspection of the front
yard. Officer McGowan testified that she did not observe anyone in the front or back yard of the residence,
but that she did, however, see a pair of high-heeled shoes by the driver's side of the vehicle in the driveway,
a light on inside the vehicle, and wine bottles in the back of the vehicle. Most significantly, Officer
McGowan testified that she discovered a purse with what appeared to be blood on it in the backyard.

Officer McGowan proceeded to knock on the front door of the residence, but received no response.
At this time, two other ofﬁcers; Defendants Charles Wholleb and Ahthony M. Doxey, arrived at the
residence to provide back-up to Officer McGowan. The officers made a decision to enter the residence to
conduct a welfare check based on the exigent circumstances at the scene. Once inside the house, dthe
officers were met by Plaintiff who made no objection to the officers being in the house. In fact, the
testimony at trial reveals that Jane Doe met the officers at the door, spoke with them, and then escorted
the officers upstairs to Daughter Doe's bedroom. During this interaction, Plaintiff did nbt appear to be
injured, physically or mentally disabled, or to be in any acute distress. Moreover, all three officers testified
at trial that they were not notified at any time that Plaintiff suffered from dementia. -

%en the officers arrived in Daughter Doe's bedroom, they discovered her lying face up on her
bed, on top of her covers, fully clothed, with a large red wine stain down the front of her shirt. Upon
waking Daughter Doe, the ofﬁcers talked with her and askéd he'r if she was in need of medical assistance.
Officers testified that Daughter Doe seemed disoriented and that Officers further observed a big, red wine
stain on Daughter Doe's shirt. her speech was slurred during their conversation with her. Daughter Doe
also attempted to walk towards the officers, but was unsteady on her feet.

During the conversation with Daughter Doe, Officers Wholleb and Doxey left the bedroom to'

gather her belongings, leaving Officer McGowan alone with Daughter Doe. Daﬁghter Doe testified that

- ‘ Page3of9% |
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she was assaulted by Officer McGowan when they were alone. Officer McGowan, on the other hand,
testified that Daughter Doe lunged at her, swinging her hands and arms and poking Officer McGowan in
the eye. As a result of this encounter, Daughter Doc was arrested for assault on a police officer and taken
to the Al Cannon Detention Center where she remained for approximately seventeen (17) hours because
she was belligerént and aggressive towards prison staff. Shortly after her arrival it was necessary for
detention staff to place Daughter Doe in a restraint chair for her safety and that of the officers. Daughter
Doe refused to answer questions or provide information to officers at the detention center during her intake
interview. Instead, Daughter Doe repeatedly asked officers why she was arrested and why she was at the
detention center. Notably, Daughter Doe asked officers if "her f-ing mom had her arrested" at least two
times. Daughter Doe's interactions with prison staff were marked by profane language and racial slurs. As
aresult of this antagonistic behavior and her overall failure to cooperate, Daughter Doe's bail was delayed:;
indeed, Daughter Doe was not released from the detention center on bail until 2:00 PM on March 28,
2014.

Meanwhile, Plaintiff remained alone at the residence where she was purported to have been
abandoned for seventeen (17) hours without care. Plaintiff ;Nas, however, visited by her brother after
receiving a phone call from Daughter Doe, John Doe SH, on March 28, 2014 around lunch time. John Doe
HS fed Plaintiff her usual lunch of ice cream, gave her water, and changed her diaper. John Doe HS
- assessed Plaintiff's physical and mental state, and deemed Plaintiff to be well enough to be left alone again
so that he could bail Daughter Doe out of jail. John Doe HS did not call emergenc'y services or Plaintiff's
doctor at that time. Daughter Doe returned home around 4:00 PM on March 28, 2014, however, she did
not take her mother to a doctor until the next day.

Plaintiff alleges that she sustained a urinary tract infection ("UTI") as a result of being left alone

after Daughter Doe was arrested. Plaintiff also attributes an appreciable decline in her dementia to this

Page 4 of 9
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incident. Accordingly, Plaintiff filed suit against the City of North .Charleston, Officer Leigh Anne
McGowan, Officer Charles Wholleb, and Officer Anthony Doxey alieging that these Defendants
abandoned Plaintiff in the residence following the arrest of her daughter and caretaker, Daughter Doe,
without providing for her care or protection. In her Complaint, Plaintiff claimed that the intrusion into her
home 'and subsequent arrest of her daughter by Defendants caused her to suffer injﬁry resulting in a
hospitalization at MUSC from March 29, 2014 to April 18, 2014. Plaintiff initially asserted eleven (11),
independent causes of action against Defendants; however, only three causes of action remained at trial:
(1) deprivation of civil rights by Defendant City of North Charleston under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (2)
deprivation of civil rights by Defendants McGowan, Wholleb, and Doxey under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and
(3) invasion of privacy against the City of North Charleston. The Court dismissed Plaintiff's Invasion of
Privacy claim on directed verdict; the remaining Section 1983 claims were submitted to the jury on
October 12, 2017.

On October 13, 2017, the jury rendered a judgment in favor of the Defendants after approximately
seven (7) hours of deliberation over the course of two days. During the course of this deliberation, the jury
asked eight (8) follow-up questions of the Court, the majority of which were related to the issue of liability.
The Court reinstructed the jury on the_applicablc? law in its entirety on the second day of deliberations per
the jury's request. The Court also reinstructed the jury on the elements of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, again at the
request of the jury. ’

Upon issuance of the verdict, Defendants made an oral post-trial motion for attorneys' fees and
costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. The Court instructed the Defendants to file a motion in support of its
request for attorneys' fees and costs in accordance with the statute. Accordingly, the Defendants filed the
instant Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on October 23, 2017 in which they seek reimbursement for

the attorneys' fees and costs expended by them in defending the case under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

Page 5 of 9
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

42 U.S.C. § 1988 allows the award of a "reasonable attorney's fee" to "the prevailing party” in
various types of civil rights cases, including suits brought under § 1983. Fox v. Vice, 563 U.S. 826, 832—
33, 131 S.Ct. 2205, 2213 (2011). *The purpose of § 1988 is to ensure effective access to the judicial

process for persons with civil rights grievances.” Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 429, 103 S. Ct.

1933, 1937 (1983). Successful plaintiffs as well as defendants are entitled to an award of fees under §

1988. Lotz Realty Co., Inc. v. U.S. Dep't Hous. and Urban Dev., 717 F.2d 929, 931 (4th Cir. 1983). Indeed,

"the language of the statute does not distinguish between plaintiffs and defendants, stating only that
'prevailing parties' may receive a reasonable attorney's fee." Id.

However, the standard for determining whether a party is entitled to attorney's fees differs
depending on the requesting party. Id. A prevailing plaintiff is ordinarily entitled to attorney's fees unless

special circumstances would render such an award unjust. Christiansburg Garment Co. v. E.E.O.C, 434

U.S. 412,418, 98 S. Ct. 695, 698 (1978). Conversely, in order to obtain fees, a prevailing defendant "must
show that the plaintiff's claim was frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless, or that the plaintiff continued
to litigate after it became clearly so0." Id. at 422, 98 S. Ct. at 701. A prevailing defendant is not entitled to

attorney's fees simply because he prevails on the merits of the case. See Allen v. City of Los Angeles, 66

F.3d 1052, 1057 (9th Cir. 1995). The court may only award attorney's fees to a prevailing defendant "upon
a finding that the plaintiff's action was frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation." Fox, 563 U.S. at
833,131 S. Ct. at 2213.
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Defendants, City of North Charleston, Leigh Anne McGowan, Charles Wholleb, and Anthony
Doxey, prevailedl on the Plaintiff's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim at trial. Defendants now move for attorney's
fees and costs as the prevailing parties under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. In support of this request, Defendants
contend that they are entitled to fees under § 1988 because the claims made by Plaintiff were frivolous,
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and in some instances, malicious. Deféndants raise a number of afguments in support of this contention;
however, these arguments are best summarized as follows: (1) Plaintiff filed suit for an improper and
malicious purpose: (2) Plaintiff pursued claims unsupported by the law and/or facts, and (3) Plaintiff drove
up discovery costs for the Defendants unnecessarily.? Counsel for Plaintiff disputes that Defendants are
entitled to attorney's fees on the basis that Plaintiff had a good faith basis to bring claims against the City
of North Charleston under § 1983.

An award of attorney's fees to a prevailiﬁg defendant depends on the initial finding that the claims
on which the Defendants ultimately prevailed were frivolous, unreasonable, and without foundation.. See

Christiansburg Garment Co., 434 U.S. at 421, 98 S. Ct. at 698. In determining whether this standard has

been met, the Court must assess the claim at the time it was filed, avoiding an after-the-fact reasoning that

because plaintiff did not ultimately prevail the claim must have been frivolous. See Andrade v. Jamestown

Hous. Auth., 82 F.3d 1179, 1192 (1st Cir.1996)). Upon reviewing the Complaint, the trial record, and the

arguments of counsel, the Céurt concludes that the standard for attorney's fees is not and cannot be met
by the Defendants in this case. Plaintiff had a good faith, non-frivolous reason for proceeding with
litigation, and, as such, attorney's fees under § 1988 are improper.

Indeed, the claims alleged by Plaintiff in the Complaint were clearly warranted under existing
federal and state law. All of Plaintiff's claims arise from a warrantless entry into Plaintiff's residence by
Defendant' officers on March 27, 2014i It is a "basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches

and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable.” Payton v. New York, 445

U.S. 573, 586, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 1380 (1980); see also See, e.g., State v. Peters, 271 U.S. 498, 501, 248

S.E.2d 475, 476 (1978) ("Searches conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable unless an

2 The Court notes that the Defendants raise the very same arguments in support of their accompanying Motion for Attorney’s
Fees and Costs pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act. The Court has addressed each of these arguments,
in turn, in its Order denying Defendants' Motion for Attomey's Fees and Costs pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous
Proceedings Act.
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exception to the warrant requirement is presented, and the burden is on the State to justify a warrantless
search."). In considering this well-settled Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, the Court finds that it was
reasonable for Plaintiff to believe that the warrantless entry into her home violated her constitutional rights
under the Fourth Amendment. Additionally, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 affords Plaintiff a remedy for the very
constitutional violation that forms the basis of her Complaint. See 42 U.S.C. § 1983 ("A state actor who
deprives a citizen of the United States or any person within the jurisdiction thereof of any rights, privileges,
or immunities secured by the Constitutior\l and laws, is liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit
in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress."). In ﬁling suit, Plaintiff merely exercised her statutory
right for redress against an arguable Fourth Amendment violation, and this Court is disinclined to penalize
an indigent Plaintiff in declining health for doing so. After all, the very purpose of § 1983 is to ensure
effective access to the judicial process for persons with civil rights grievances.” See Hensley, 461 U.S. at
429, 103 S. Ct. at 1937.

Moreover, counsel for Plaintiff articulated a non-frivolous theory for Plaintiff's claims at trial.
Plaintiff offered the testimony of two police experts at trial, both of whom testified that the warrantless
entry violated the Fourth Amendment, and that Defendants were consequently liéble for the injuries
suffered by the Plaintiff as a result of the violation. The Plaintiff also tendered medical evidence at trial
tending to demonstrate that Plaintiff did, in fact, experience a decline in her health, notably a UTI,
following the unlawful entry ‘by the Defendants. Perhaps most significant of all, it took the jury
approximately seven (7) hours to render a verdict on the evidence before them after initially indicating
they were deadlocked. During the course of these deliberations, the jury submitted eight (8) notes to the
Court that centered on the propriety of the search, issues of immunity, and whether exigency existed.
These notes clearly reﬁect that the exception .to the warrantless search was a legitimate issue of concern

for the jury. In light of the verdict, the allegations set forth in the Complaint, and the evidence presented
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at trial, the Court is not able to conclude that Plaintiff's claims were completely meritless, frivolous, and
unfounded as is required for an award of attorney's fees under § 1988. Accordingly, the Court is

constrained to deny the Defendants' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

CONCLUSION
Based on the pleadings, affidavits, and arguments of counsel, the Court finds that the Defendants
are not entitled to fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. The Defendants have not made the requisite showing that
Plaintiff's claims, ‘though ultimately unsuycce.ss'ful,. were "frivolous, unreasonable or groundless." See
Christiansburg, 434 U.S. at 418, 98 S. Ct. at 698. Thus, the Court hereby denies the Defendants' Motim;
for Attorneys' Fees and Costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

IT IS SO ORDERED!

Hord Debffra L. Jefferson
Presiding Judge

Ninth Judicial Circuit
March .@0 , 2018 _
Charleston, South Carolina
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2014-CP-10-4591

COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and John
Doe HS, each of whom holds power of

attorney for Jane Doe,
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'

MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES

Plaintiffs,
AND COSTS PURSUANT TO THE
v. SOUTH CAROLINA
FRIVOLOUS PROCEEDINGS
City of North Charleston; Leigh Anne » SANCTIONS ACT
McGowan, individually, Charles Francis o ~
Wholleb, individually, and Anthony M. ~ n;_—:: g
Doxey, individually, I o
L o i
e =]
Defendants. S & i
. SEomm o T
Presiding Judge: Hon. Deadra L. Jeffersdg— = [ |
Counsel for Plaintiff: Gregg Meyers, Esq. :‘.cg w .
Counsel for Defendants: : Sandra Senn, Esq. & «

Christopher Dorsei, Esq.
October 2, 2017 — October 13, 2017

Date of Trial:
Joyce Rueger

Court Reporter:

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs
pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act, filed with the Charleston County Clerk
of Court on October 23, 2017 and received by the Court on the same date. A trial by jury was held
from October 2, 2017 until October 13, 2017 at which time the jury returned a verdict in favor of
the Defendants City of North Charleston, Leigh Anne McGowan, Charles Wholleb, and Anthony
Doxey. Present at the trial were Gregg Meyers, Esquire on behalf of the Plaintiff, Jane Doe 202,
and Sandra Senn, Esquire and Christopher Dorsel, Esquire on behalf of the four Defendants.

At the conclusion of trial and after the verdict, the Defendants made a post-trial motion
for sanctions pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10. The Court instructed the Defendants to file

amotion in support of its proposal for sanctions in accordance with the requirements of S.C. Code

i\
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Ann..§ 15-36-10(D). Accordingly, the Defendants filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Cost§
pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act on October 23, 201 7.! Plaintiff filed a
Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Fees and Costs on November 3, 2017.
Having fully considered the pleadings, briefs, and affidavits submitted by the parties as well as the
evidence of record, the Court hereby denies Defendants’ Motion for Attorneyé Fees and Costs
under the South Carolina‘Frivoleus Proceedings Act.?
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiff in this matter, Jane Doe, is a sixty-nine (69) year old female who has suffered
from dementia and early onset Alzheimer's disease éince 2012. This case arises from a civil rights
claim for damages allegedly suffered by Plaintiff when the Defendants conducted a warrantless
entry into her residence in North Charleston, South Carolina. The entry occurred on March 27,
2014 and was conducted by the City of North Charleston police ofﬁcers: Leigh Anne McGowan,
Charles Wholleb, and Anthony M. Doxey. On the night of March 27, 2014, Plaintiff's neighbors,
Jake and Sarah Sadler, called the North Charleston Police Department to report a disturbance at
Plaintiff's residence involving Plaintitf's daughter. Mr. Sadler informed the Police Department that
Plaintiff, Jane Doe, and her adult daughter and caretaker, Daughter Doe, lived in the residence,
and that Daughter Doe was pounding on the front door and screaming. Mr. Sadler also reported

that Daughter Doe's car door was open, that her shoes were on the sidewalk, and that she "looked

! Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs was timely filed and served upon the Court. "A motion for
sanctions must be filed within ten days of the notice of entry of judgment." Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 370 5.C.
5,20, 633 S.E.2d 722, 730 (2006). Judgment was rendered in this case on October 13,2017 and Defendants filed the
Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on October 23, 2017. :

2 This motion has been determined on the briefs and affidavits filed by the parties without oral argument with the
consent of counsel. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10 (D) affords the party opposing sanctions notice and an opportunity to
respond prior to the imposition of sanctions. However, a hearing is not required by the South Carolina Frivolous Civil
Proceedings Sanctions Act. A court imposing sanctions need only issue an Order describing the conduct determined
to constitutc a violation of the Act and explain the basis for the sanction imposcd. Sce Ex parte Gregory, 378 S.C.
430, 438, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008).

pe
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like a mess." Mr. Sadler further observed Daughter Doe urinating on the front lawn. This account
of events was corroborated by the trial testimony of Daughter Doe who admitted that she was
indeed yelling and banging on the front door of the residence on the night of March 27, 2014
because she had locked herself out. |

The first officer to respond to the call from Plaintiff's neighbor was Defendant Leigh Anne
McGowan. Upon arrival at the residence, Officer McGowan completed a visual inspection of the
front yard. Officer McGowan testified that she did not observe anyone in the front or back yard of
the residence, but that she did, however, see a pair of high-heeled shoes by the driver's side of the
vehicle in the driveway, a light on inside the vehicle, and wine bottles in the back of the vehicle.
Most significantly, Officer McGowan testified that she discovered é purse with what appeared to
be blood on it in the backyard.

Officer McGowan p;oceeded to knock on the front door of the residence, but receivedlno
response. At this time, two other officers, Defendants Charles Wholleb and Anthony M. Doxey,
arrived at the residence to provide back-up to Officer McGowan. The officers made a decision to
enter the residence to conduct a welfare check based on the exigent circumstances at the scene.
Once inside the house, the officers were met by Plaintiff who made no objection to the officers
being in the house. In fact, the testimony at trial reveals that Jane Doe met the officers at the door,
spoke with them, and then escorted the officers upstairs to Daughter Doe's bedroom. During this
interaction, Plaintiff did not appear to be injured, physically or mentally disabled, or to be in any
acute distress. Moreover, all three officers testified at trial that they were not notified at any time
that Plaintift suffered from dementia.

When the officers arrived in Daughter Doe's bedroom, they discovered her lying face up

on her bed, on top of her covers, fully clothed, with a large red wine stain on the front of her shirt.
Ve
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Upon waking Daughter Doe, the officers talked with her and asked her if she was in need of
medical assistance. Officers testified that Daughter Doe seemed disoriented and that her speech
was slurred during their conversation with her. Daughter Doe also attempted to walk towards the
officers, but was unsteady on her feet.

During the conversation with Daughter Doe, Officers Wholleb and Doxey left the bedroom
to gather her belongings, leaving Officer McGowan alone with Daughter Doe. Daughter Doe
testified that she .was assaulted by Officer McGowan when they were alone. Officer McGowan,
on the other hand, testified that Daughter Doc lunged at her, swinging her hands and arms and
poking Officer McGowan in the eye. As a result of this encounter, Daughter Doe was arrested for
assault on a police officer and taken to the Al Cannon Detention Center where she remained for
approximately svevenlecn (17) hours because she was belligerent and aggressive towards prison
staff. Daughter Doe was placed in a restraint chair as a result of her combative behavior and for
her own safety and that of thé detention staff. Daughter Doe refused to answer questions or provide
information to officers at the detention center during her intake interview. Instead, Daughter Doe
repeatedly asked officers why she was arrested and why she was at the detention center. Notably,
Daughter Doe asked officers if "her f-ing mom had her arrested" at Jeast two times. Daughter Doe's
interaction with prison staff was marked by profane language and racial slurs. As a resuit of this
antagonistic behavior and her overall failure to cooperate, Daughter Doe's bail was delayed,
indeed, Daughter Doe was not released from the detention center .on bail until 2:00 PM on March
28,2014.

Meanwhile, Plaintiff remained alone at the residence where she was purported to have been
abandoned for seventeen (17) hours without care. Plaintiff was, however, visited by her brother,
John Doe SH, on March 28, 2014 around lunch time after a phone call from Daughter Doe. John

(3
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Doe HS fed Plaintiff her usual lunch of ice cream, gave her water, and changed her diaper. John
Doe HS assessed Plaintiff's physical and mental state, and deemed Plaintiff to be well enough to
be left alone again so that he could bail Dau_ghter Doe out of jail. John Doe HS did not call
emergency services or Plaintiff's doctor at that time. Daughter Doe returned home around 4:00 PM
on March 28, 2014, however, she did not take her mother to a doctor until the next day.

Plaintiff alleges that she sustained a urinary tract infection ("UTI") as a result of being left
alone after Daughter Doe was arrested. Plaintiff also attributes an appreciable decline in her
dementia to this incident. Accordingly, Plaintiff filed suit against the City of North Charleston,
Otficer Leigh Anne McGowan, Officer Charles Wholleb, and Officer Anthony Doxey alleging
that these Defendants abandoned Plaintiff in the residence following the arrest of her daughter and
caretaker, Daughter Doe, without providing for her care or protection. In her Complaint, Piaintiff
claimed that the intrusion into_her home and subsequent arrest of her daughter by Defendants
caused her to suffer injury resulting in an initial hospitalization at MUSC from March 29, 2014 to
April 18, 2014, and a subsequent hospitalization at the MUSC Institute of Psychiatry from March
21,2015 to June 1, 2017 for treatment of her advancing dementia.3

Plaintiff initially asserted eleven (11), independent causes of action against Defendants;
however, only three causes of action remained at trial: (1) deprivation of civil rights by Defendant
City of North Charleston under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (2) deprivation of civil rights by Defendants
McGowan, Wholleb, and Doxey under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and (3) invasion of privacy against the
City of North Charleston. The Court dismissed Plaintiff's Invasion of Privacy claim on directed

verdict; the remaining Section 1983 claims were submitted to the jury on October 12, 2017.

7 The Court was informed that the Plaintiff was transferred to a long-term care nursing facility located in Monck's
Corner, SC on or about June 1, 2017.
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On October 13, 2017, the jury rendered a judgment in favor of the Defendants after
approximately seven (7) hours of deliberation over the course of two days. During the course of
this deliberation, the jury asked eight (8) follow-up questions of the Court, the majority of which
were related to the issue of liability. The Court reinstructed the jury on the applicable law in its
entirety on the second day of deliberations per the jury's request. The Court also reinstructed the
jury on the elements of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, again at ‘the request of the jury.

Upon issuance of the verdict, Defendants made an oral post-trial motion for sanctions
pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act. The Court instructed the Defendants to

file a motion in support of its request for attorneys' fees and costs in accordance with the Act.

Accordingly, the Defendants filed the instant Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs pursuant to the

South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act on October 23, 2017. Defendants seck an award of
sanctions a.gainst the Plaintiff and her lawyer, Gregg Meyers, pursuant to the South Carolina
Frivolous Proceedings Act.
'STANDARD OF REVIEW
The South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act allows a prevailing party
to pursue sanctions against an aftomey, party, or pro se litigant for a frivolous claim where the

court finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that:

(a) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe
that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted
under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did .
not exist for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law;

(b) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe
that his procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of the civil
suit was intended merely to harass or injure the other party; or

.0 . .
(c) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe

that the case or defense was frivolous as not reasonably founded in
fact or was interposed merely for delay, or was merely brought for
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a purpose other than securing proper discovery, joinder of proposed
parties, or adjudication of the claim or defense upon which the
proceedings are based.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10(C)(1).

In determining if any attorney, party, or pro se litigant has violated the provisions of the
South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Sanctions Act, the court shall take into account: (1) the
number of parties; (2) the complexity of the claims and defenses; (3) the length of time available
. to the attorney, party, or pro se litigant to investigate and conduct discovery for alleged violations
of provisions of the Act; (4) information disclosed or undisclosed to the attorney, party, or pro se
litigant through discovery and adequate investigation; (5) previous violations of the provisions of
this section; (6) the response, if any, of the attorney, party, or pro se litigant to the allegation that
he violated the provisions of this section; and (7) other facts the court considers just, equitable, or
appropriate under the circumstances. The provisions of the Act do not, however, apply where an
attorney, party, or pro se litigant éstablishes a basis to proceed with litigation, or to assert or
controvert an issue therein, that is not frivolous, and which includes a good faith argument for an
extension, modification, or reversal of existing law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10()).

The ultimate decision of whether to award sanctions under the Frivolous Proceedings Act

is treated as one in equity by the court. Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson, 418 S.C.

557,563, 795 S.E.2d 40, 43 (Ct. App. 2016). The court has wide discretion in ordering sanctions,
and may impose a sanction "on a party, a party's attorney, or both for filing a pleading, motion, or
other paper to cause delay or when no good grounds exist to support the filing." See Runyon v.

Wright, 322 S.C. 15, 19, 471 S.E.2d 160, 162 (1996).
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Défendants move this Court to impose saﬁctions upon Plaintiff, Jane Doe, and her counsel,
Gregg Meyers, pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Sanctions Act for bringing
and maintaining an allegedly frivolous action against them. Defendants raise a number of
arguments in support of their contention that this Court should sanction Plaintiff and her counsel;
however, these arguments can be distilled info three, fundamental arguments: (1) Plaintiff filed
suit for an improper and malicious purpose: (2) Plaintiff pursued claims unsupported by the law
and/or facts; and (3) Plaintiff drove up ciiscovery costs for lhé Defendants unnecessarily. Plaintiff
disputes these contentions and insists that it would therefore be inappropriate for this Court to
impose sanctions upon her and her counsel.

Having carefully considered the arguments of the parties and the record in this case, the
Court finds that it'would, indeed, be improper to impose sanctions on Plaintiff or her attorney
under the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Saﬁctions Act, and fhe Court therefore declines
to do so. In reaching this conclusion, the Court finds that Plaintiff had a good faith basis to proceea
with the litigation of this case, and that c}ovunse,l for Plaintiff acted reasonably in pursuing the case
to trial. The Court cannot impose sanctions where, as here, an attorney or pro se litigént establishes
a basis to proceed with litigation, or to assert or controvert an issue therein that is not frivolous.”
" See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10 (J). |

As to the first argument set forth by Defendants, the Court is unable to hold with certainty
that the Plaintiff or her counsel purlsued .this action against the Defendanté in bad faith. Defendants
rely upon conjecture and personal animus in arguing bad faith on the part of the Plaintiff and her
counsel. Defendants inexplicably argue that malicious intent can be discerned from the fact that

Daughter Doe sued the reporting neighbors, the Sadlers, in a separate suit based on an allegedly
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"far-fetched" conspiracy theory.® However, because Daughter Doe and the Sadlers are non-parties
to the instant case, Daughter Doe's motives for suing the Sadlers are wholly irrelevant in |
determining whether sanctions should be imposed in this particular case involving Jane Doe and
the City of North Charleston and its police officers, and the Court declines to consider them.
Further, theré is nothing that precluded the Sadlers from pursuing any relief they deemed
appropriate against Daughter Doe in the litigation between them. It would likewise be improper
for the Court to impose sanctions upon the elderly, infirm, and indigent Plaintiff for allegedly
"threatening” actions taken by her daughter, a non-party, against Jake and Sarah Sadler during the
trial of Plaintiff's case.’ Rather, Defendants musf be able to demonstrate that the Plaintiff in this
case, Jane Doe, had a malicious or improper motive for filing suit by a preponderance of the
evidence, yet they have failed to provide any objective evidence of such on the part of the Plaintiff.
To the contrary, the evidence of record reveals that Plaintiff pursued state and federal claims
against the Defendant in good faith. Plaintiff felt that her constitutional rights were violated by the
Defendants' actions on March 27, 2014, and filed suit to remedy this perceived wrong in
accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The Court cannot discern a malicious or deviant intent in the
Plaintiff exercising her right under state and federal law to file suit against those persons whom
allegedly violated her constitutional rights. The Court thus declines to grant sanctions on the basis
that the suit was brought for the sole purpose of "harassing” or "injuring" the officers who,

admittedly, entered the Plaintiff's home without a warrant or consent.

* Daughter Doe currently has a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 cause of action pending in the Federal Court against the Defendants.
The Court notes that nothing precludes them from pursuing any relief against Daughter Doe in the event her claims
prove unsuccessful.

% Jake and Sarah Sadler testified that they have legal counsel. They also have experience with the legal system by
virtue of their lawsuit with Daughter Doe. The Court notes that there exist no impediments to the Sadlers' availing
themselves of any legal remedies available to them through the justice system if they wish to pursue legal action
against Daughter Doe.
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In that same vein, the Court finds that the claims set forth by Plaintiff were clearly exercised
*in good faith Lmder existing federal law.and state law. All of the claims asserted by Plaintiff arise
from a warrantless entry into Plaintiff's residence by Defendant' officers on March 27, 2014. It is
a "basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a

warrant are presumptively unreasonable." Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586, 100 S. Ct.

1371, 1380 (1980); see also See, e.g., State v. Peters, 271 U.S. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476

(1978) ("Searches conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable unless an exception to the
warrant requirement is presented, and the burden is on the State to justify a warrantless search."). .
In considering this well-settled Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, the~ Court finds that it was
l‘easonable for Plaintiff to believe that the warrantless entry into her homec violated her
constitutional rights under the Fourth Amendment. Moreover, federal law, specifically 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983, affords Plaintiff a remedy for the very constitutional violatioﬁ that forms the basis of her
Complaint. See 42 U.S.C. § 1983 ("A state actor who deprives a citizen ofthe Unitéd §tates or any
p-erson within the jurisdiction thereof of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the
Constitution and laws, is liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other
proper proceeding for redress."). Plaintiff cleaﬂy had a good faith basis under existing federal and
state to challenge the police conduct at issue and it was therefore reasonable for her attorney to
pursue claims under § 1983 as well as other related claims on her behalf. Counsel for the Plaintiff
articulated a non-frivolous theory for Plaintiff's claims both in the Compliant and at trial. Plaintiff
offered the testimony of two police experts at trial, both of whom testified that the warrantless
entry violated the Fourth Amendment, and that Defendants were consequently liable for the
injuries suffered by Plaintiff as a result of the violation. Plaintiff also tendered medical evidence

at trial tending to demonstrate that Plaintiff did, in fact, experience a decline in her health, notably

\&
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a UTI and appreciable decline in her dementia, following the unlawful entry by the Defendants.
Perhaps most significant of all, it took the jury approximately (7) hours to render a verdict on the
evidence before them after initially indicating they were deadlocked. During the course of these
deliberations, the jury submitted eight (8) notes to the Court that centered on the propriety of the
search, issues of immunity, and whether an exigency existed. These notes clearly reflect that
exception to the warrantless search was a legitimate issue of concern for the jury. Sanctions are
not warranted simply because the jury ultimately did not agree with Plaintiff's theory of the case.

Lastly, the Court declines to award sanctions to Defendants on the basis that Plaintiff
engaged in improper discovery practice. Defendants contend that Plaintiff's counsel improperly
"used" this case to conduct discovery on unrelated matters. To illuminate this argument,
Defendants note that the Plaintiff asked the City of North Charleston to produce department policy
on the use of body cameras and deposed high-ranking officials employed by the City of North
Charleston to question them regarding the same. Defendant argues that these /requests were
irrelevant and frivolous. Plaintiff, on the other hand, argues that her request fc;r additional
information regarding the Defendant's body camera policy was indeed relevant to this case
concerning police practices.

However, as acknowledged by both parties, the Court previously ruled upon the relevancy
of these discovery requests in Plaintiff's favor. The Honorable R. Markley Dennis issued a Form
Order on September 11, 2015 denying Defendants' request to prohibit the deposition of North
Charleston officials and/or limit the scope of these depositions. Defendants presently renew their
objection to Plaintiff's discovery requests by asking the Court to sanction Plaintiff for making these
requests, ignoring that a court of concurrent jurisdiction previodsly allowed discovery on the same

topic over their objection. This Court does not have ability to set aside or overturn the order issued

L
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by Judge Dennis and substitute its own judgment as to the relevancy of the discovery requests,

despite Defendant's assertions to the contrary. See, e.g., Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher, 287

S.C. 602, 604, 340 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1986) ("One Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority
to sct aside the order of another."). Judge Dennis's Order becomes.the law of this case. By asking
the Court to award sanctions based upon Plaintiff's discovery requests, the Defendants are
effectively asking the Court to superimpose its opinion as to whether the requests were frivolous
“over that of another judge who found them to be relevant, germane, and rational to the case. The
Court declines to set aside the opinion of a concurrent judge, and notes that any issues previously
raised by Dcfendahts as to the discovery issued by Plaintiff has been preserved for the appropriate
appellate review.
CONCLUSION
Based on the pleadings, affidavits, arguments of counsel, and record of the case, the Court
concludes, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the action is not frivolous under the
"reasonable attorney"” standard set forth by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10. Defendants have failed to
persuade the Court that Plaintiff's claims, though ultimately unsuccessful, were frivolous.
Accordingly, the Court heréby denies the Defendants’ Motion for‘Attomeys' Fees and Costs
pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Act.

IT IS SO ORDERED!

Hon. D¢add¥ L. Jefferson
Presiding Judge
Ninth Judicial Circuit

March M , 2018
Charleston, South Carolina

\or
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- STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

) ,
COUNTY OF CHARLESTON ) CASE NO. 2014-CP-10-4591
Jane Doe 202, by John Doe MM and )
John Doe HS, each of whom holds power ) @ o
of attorney for Jane Doe, ’ ) < =
) M
Plaintiffs, ) e
) Deprivation of Civil Rights S%
vs. ) (state created danger) Qix
) Gross Negligence \ %:é
City of North Charleston; ) Defamation ' —Z.
Leigh Anne McGowan, individually, ) Intentional Infliction of E%'notional
Charles Francis Wholleb, individually, ) Distress -
Anthony M. Doxey, individually; ) Declaratory relief
Howard Thomas, individually, and ) Injunctive Relief
Michael Kouris, individually, ) Deprivation of Civil Rights
) (inadequate training)
Defendants. ) Civil Conspiracy
) .

Second Amended Complaint

1. This is an action under state and federal law for money damages and

injunctive relief. 1t is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, the Fourth, Fifth,

and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and under the
Constitution and laws of South Carolina.

2. This action is filed in state court even though federal question jur